### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA **COURT OF APPEALS**

JULIA WASHINGTON, Appellant,

V.

### D.C. DEPARTMENT OF FORENSIC SCIENCES,

and

D.C. OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Case No. 2024-CAB-000346 (The Honorable Alfred S. Irving, Jr.)

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

Ryan E. Griffin (DC Bar No. 1007078)\* Emily R. Postman (DC Bar No. 90025349) James & Hoffman, P.C. 1629 K Street, NW, Suite 1050 Washington, DC 20006 (202) 496-0500 regriffin@jamhoff.com erpostman@jamhoff.com

Counsel for Appellant

\*Counsel for Oral Argument Dated: September 9, 2024

## **RULE 28(a)(2) STATEMENT**

List of Parties and Counsel:

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellant Julia Washington, Petitioner below, appeals from a final order of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11–721(a)(1).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The overall issue on appeal is whether the Superior Court erred in denying Ms. Washington's Motion for Extension of Time to Petition for Review of Agency Decision and instead granting the motion of Appellee D.C. Department of Forensic Sciences (DFS), Respondent below, to dismiss her petition as untimely.

Resolution of this issue requires determination of two sub-issues:

- 1. Whether the deadline to petition for review established in Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) is excluded from the Superior Court's general authority under Rule of Civil Procedure 6(b)(1)(B) to equitably toll non-jurisdictional filing deadlines for good cause if the moving party "failed to act because of excusable neglect"; and
- 2. Whether the Superior Court erred in concluding that even if it had the authority to extend the Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) deadline, Ms. Washington failed to establish excusable neglect.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Washington is a former employee of DFS who was separated from service along with nine colleagues through a Reduction-in-Force (RIF) effective

October 2021. With the support of an attorney provided by their union, the National Association of Government Employees (NAGE), Ms. Washington and her colleagues challenged the RIF decision to the D.C. Office of Employee Appeals (OEA).

OEA upheld Ms. Washington's separation from employment via the RIF in a decision that became final on September 28, 2023. NAGE thereafter assigned the same attorney who represented Ms. Washington before OEA to petition the Superior Court for review of OEA's decision. Per Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2), Ms. Washington's petition was due no later than October 30, 2023, 30 days after OEA's decision became final.

Ms. Washington's union-appointed counsel did not file her petition by October 30. In fact, she did not file it, or those of Ms. Washington's colleagues, at all.

Nor did Ms. Washington's counsel timely alert her or NAGE of the missed deadline. Rather, it was not until January 5, 2024, that she informed NAGE's General Counsel that none of the petitions had been filed. NAGE's General Counsel immediately began alerting the affected members and working to secure alternate representation.

On January 18, 2024, Ms. Washington, represented by new counsel, filed her Petition for Review. Along with her petition, Ms. Washington moved for an

extension of time based on the circumstances described above. She asked the Superior Court to treat her petition as timely filed pursuant to Rule of Civil Procedure 6(b)(1)(B), which authorizes the court to equitably extend a deadline that has already passed in cases of excusable neglect, and Agency Review Rule 1(i), which makes certain Rules of Civil Procedure, including Rule 6, applicable to agency review proceedings.

DFS opposed Ms. Washington's motion and moved to dismiss, arguing that the Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) deadline for petitioning for review of an agency decision may not be equitably tolled. DFS also argued that in any event, Ms. Washington had not established good cause for doing so.<sup>1</sup>

On March 25, 2024, the Superior Court denied Ms. Washington's Motion for Extension and granted DFS's Motion to Dismiss. It agreed with DFS that Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) could not be equitably tolled, and ruled in the alternative that, even if it could be, Ms. Washington had not demonstrated excusable neglect.

Notably, this is the opposite of the conclusion reached by other Superior Court judges in the cases of four of Ms. Washington's colleagues.

Ms. Washington now timely appeals the Superior Court's dismissal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although OEA was also listed as a Respondent on Ms. Washington's Petition for Review, it was a nominal party only in the Superior Court and played no role beyond certifying the agency record to be reviewed. DFS was thus the only Respondent to take substantive positions.

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

## 1. The DFS RIF and Ms. Washington's OEA appeal.

Ms. Washington was a Forensic Science Technician in the Firearms Examination Unit of DFS. App. 004 (OEA Decision). In that position, she was represented by NAGE. *Id*.

In 2021, DFS abolished the Firearms Examination Unit and separated Ms. Washington and nine of her NAGE-member colleagues from employment through a Reduction-in-Force (RIF). *Id.* Ms. Washington's employment with DFS ended October 22, 2021. App. 005.

Ms. Washington filed a Petition for Appeal with OEA on November 29, 2021. App. 003. She, along with her nine former DFS colleagues, were represented in the OEA proceeding by counsel provided by NAGE. App. 027 (Declaration of Sarah Suszczyk, General Counsel of NAGE, in support of Ms. Washington's Motion for Extension of Time, ¶ 3).

OEA upheld Ms. Washington's separation from employment via the RIF in an Initial Decision issued August 24, 2023. App. 020. By operation of law, this decision became final on September 28, thirty-five days after it was issued. *See* D.C. Code § 1–606.03(c).

## 2. Ms. Washington's former counsel's failure to timely file her Petition for Review.

Following the OEA decision, NAGE, through Ms. Suszczyk, authorized the same counsel who represented Ms. Washington and her colleagues before OEA to file Petitions for Review of OEA's decisions in Superior Court. App. 027 (Suszczyk Decl., ¶ 5). Under Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2), Ms. Washington's petition was due no later than October 30, 2023, thirty days after the OEA decision became final.

Ms. Washington's counsel failed to file her petition by that deadline. She also failed to timely file petitions for any of Ms. Washington's colleagues.

Not only that, Ms. Washington's counsel failed to timely alert Ms. Washington, her colleagues, or Ms. Suszczyk that the deadlines had been missed. Instead, she waited until January 5, 2024, when she finally informed Ms. Suszczyk that none of the petitions had been filed. *Id.* (Suszczyk Decl., ¶ 6).

Ms. Suszczyk immediately sought new representation for Ms. Washington and her colleagues. *Id.* (Suszczyk Decl., ¶ 7). She initially spoke with undersigned counsel on January 10, 2024, and, after securing internal approval, secured his firm's services on behalf of Ms. Washington and her colleagues on January 15. App. 027–28 (Suszczyk Decl., ¶ 7). The same day, Ms. Suszczyk contacted Ms. Washington and her colleagues to connect them with undersigned counsel for the purpose of filing their petitions for review. App. 028 (Suszczyk Decl., ¶ 8).

## 3. Ms. Washington's Petition for Review and the Superior Court's dismissal.

Ms. Washington, represented by new counsel, filed her Petition for Review in Superior Court on January 18, 2024. App. 001 (Petition for Review). As soon as the petition was docketed, she also filed her Motion for Extension of Time to Petition for Review of Agency Decision, App. 023 (Motion), supported by Ms. Suszczyk's declaration. App. 027. DFS opposed Ms. Washington's motion and moved to dismiss her petition as untimely. App. 29.

On March 25, 2024, the Superior Court denied Ms. Washington's motion for extension and granted DFS's motion to dismiss. App. 041 (Superior Court's final order). It held that Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) is a mandatory claims-processing rule and that, accordingly, the Superior Court lacks the authority to equitably toll the deadline prescribed therein. App. 059–60. The court further held, as an alternative basis for denying Ms. Washington's motion, that she would not be entitled to equitable tolling even if it were available because she was unable to establish excusable neglect. App. 60.

Ms. Washington timely noticed her appeal on April 23, 2024. App. 069 (Notice of Appeal).

# 4. Conflicting Superior Court opinions as to whether the Rule 1(b)(2) deadline may be extended.

Ms. Washington's nine NAGE-represented former DFS colleagues also filed petitions for review and materially identical motions to extend within days of Ms.

Washington's filings. The ten cases were docketed across eight Superior Court judges.

In seven of these cases, including this one, the parties' competing motions to extend and motions to dismiss have been fully resolved.<sup>2</sup>

In four of these cases, the court concluded both that Rule 1(b)(2) was susceptible to equitable tolling and that the petitioners (all relying on the same declaration from Ms. Suszczyk appearing in the record here) had made the requisite showing of excusable neglect for doing so. *Marso v. D.C. Dep't of Forensic Sciences*, No. 2024-CAB-000343 (D.C. Super. Ct. Feb. 27, 2024); *McCraw v. D.C. Dep't of Forensic Sciences*, No. 2024-CAB-000344 (D.C. Super. Ct. Mar. 22, 2024); *Beckham v. D.C. Dep't of Forensic Sciences*, No. 2024-CAB-000387 (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 26, 2024); *Bobek v. D.C. Dep't of Forensic Sciences*, No. 2024-CAB-000335 (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 26, 2024).

In two other cases, the court concluded, as here, that the Rule 1(b)(2) deadline may not be extended. *Ruiz-Reyes v. D.C. Dep't of Forensic Sciences*, No.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In two of the remaining three cases, the parties' motions remain pending. *Bailey v. D.C. Dep't of Forensic Sciences*, No. 2024-CAB-000393 (D.C. Super. Ct.); *Brittinham v. D.C. Dep't of Forensic Sciences*, No. 2024-CAB-000336 (D.C. Super. Ct.). In the third case, the court initially granted DFS's motion to dismiss before giving the petitioner the opportunity to respond and, after petitioner moved for reconsideration, requested full briefing on the reconsideration motion, which remains pending. *Elder v. D.C. Dep't of Forensic Sciences*, No. 2024-CAB-000337 (D.C. Super. Ct.).

2024-CAB-000345 (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 11, 2024); Gilliam v. D.C. Dep't of Forensic Sciences, No. 2024-CAB-000339 (D.C. Super. Ct. Apr. 17, 2024).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Superior Court committed reversible error in dismissing Ms.

Washington's Petition for Review because: (1) the Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2)

deadline for filing such petitions may be extended for good cause; and (2) because she demonstrated good cause for doing so.

1. That the Rule 1(b)(2) deadline may be equitably tolled is apparent from the plain text of Agency Review Rule 1 and Rule of Civil Procedure 6 as expressly incorporated therein. Rule of Civil Procedure 6(b)(1) provides general equitable authority for the Superior Court to extend deadlines after time has expired "if the party failed to act because of excusable neglect." This provision applies to agency review proceedings through paragraph (i) of Agency Review Rule 1, which incorporates numerous Rules of Civil Procedure including Rule 6. And while Rule 6(b)(2) places a short list of particular deadlines beyond the court's generally applicable equitable authority, the Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) deadline is not among these express limitations.

This plain text reading of the pertinent rules is supported by multiple decisions of this Court. *Mathis v. District of Columbia Housing Authority*, 124 A.3d 1089 (D.C. 2015), held that the filing deadline in Court of Appeals Rule 15,

which is phrased identically to Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2), is a non-jurisdictional claims-processing rule and thus subject to equitable tolling. *Brewer v. District of Columbia Office of Emp. Appeals*, 163 A.3d 799 (D.C. 2017), confirmed that Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) was likewise a claims-processing rule subject to equitable tolling, at least where the responding agency did not timely object. And *Baldwin v. District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals*, 226 A.3d 1140 (D.C. 2020), found that the time limit under D.C. Code § 1-606.03(c) for appealing an OEA Administrative Judge's decision to the OEA Board is subject to equitable tolling. Critically, Section 1-606.03 is the same statutory provision that authorizes the appeal in this case from a final OEA decision to the Superior Court. *See* D.C. Code § 1-606.03(d).

Nor is this reading of the pertinent rules at all inconsistent with recent decisions from the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court holding finding certain deadlines to constitute mandatory claims-processing rules that may not be equitably tolled over the timely objection of the non-moving party. Both *Nutraceutical Corp. v. Lambert*, 586 U.S. 188, 193 (2019), and *Dixon v. United States*, 304 A.3d 966, 969 (D.C. 2023), reach such a result. But both cases do so based on express exclusions from the respective court's equitable authority pertaining to the specific deadlines at issue in those cases.

2. Ms. Washington demonstrated the "excusable neglect" required by Rule of Civil Procedure 6(b)(1) for extending the Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) deadline, "taking account of all relevant circumstances surrounding" her delayed filing. *Pioneer Inv. Servs. Co. v. Brunswick Assocs.*, 507 U.S. 380, 392, 395 (1993).

First, DFS was not prejudiced in any way by the timing of Ms. Washington's petition. This case entails a written review of a closed agency record. There is no possibility of discovery, or of an evidentiary hearing or a trial, and thus no risk that DFS will be burdened by the unavailability of witnesses, or by the need to preserve evidence, or by any other issue that might give rise to prejudice in a normal civil proceeding. Rather, as Respondent, DFS simply needs to prepare a written defense of the closed agency record, and this task will be precisely the same regardless of whether the petitioning deadline is extended.

Second, the extension that Ms. Washington seeks would have no impact on the judicial proceedings in this case for the simple reason that there were not any proceedings to speak of until she filed her petition and motion. No briefing schedules, or evidentiary hearings, or trial schedules would be altered as a result of the requested extension, nor would there be any risk of the overall length of the case becoming excessive.

Third, the reasons for Ms. Washington's filing delay were entirely understandable and eminently reasonable. She had every reason to believe that the

same attorney who represented her throughout the lengthy OEA process would be able to meet what was effectively the next deadline in her ongoing case. And she had every reason to believe that the attorney would not require additional input from her to do so given that, as noted above, this proceeding involves the review of the closed OEA record with which the attorney was already intimately familiar.

Fourth, Ms. Washington acted in good faith by promptly acting to correct the error once she learned through her union of the missed deadline on January 5, 2024. Her union arranged for her prior counsel and indicated it would arrange a replacement. As soon as it was able to do so, on January 15, Ms. Washington immediately connected with her new attorney and was thus able to file her petition three days later on January 18.

In sum, Agency Rule 1(b)(2) is subject to equitable tolling, and Ms.

Washington established good cause for doing so. The Superior Court's dismissal should therefore be reversed, her Motion for Extension through the date of her petition should be granted, and the case should be remanded for proceedings on the merits.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) deadline may be equitably tolled.
  - A. Standard of review and applicable legal framework.
    - 1. Applicable standard of review.

The sole question on this issue is whether Agency Review Rule 1(b)(2) allows for equitable tolling. "The proper construction of court rules of procedure is a legal question that we review de novo." *Dixon*, 304 A.3d at 968 (citing *Jenkins v. United States*, 75 A.3d 174, 195 (D.C. 2013)).

## 2. The presumption in favor of equitable tolling.

"[O]nly deadlines contained in statutes can be jurisdictional. . . ." *Brewer*, 163 A.3d at 801–02 (internal quotation omitted). Conversely, "claim-processing deadlines contained in court-made rules" are inherently non-jurisdictional. *Id* at 802. (internal quotation omitted); *see also Mathis*, 124 A.3d at 1102 ("[T]he Supreme Court has made clear that the modern 'bright line' default is that procedural rules, even those codified in statutes, are 'nonjurisdictional in character." (quoting *Sebelius v. Auburn Regional Med. Ctr.*, 568 U.S. 145 (2013) (cleaned up)).

Non-jurisdictional claim-processing deadlines "are presumptively subject to equitable tolling." *Boechler, P.C. v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue*, 596 U.S. 199, 208–09 (2022) (citing *Irwin v. Dep't of Veterans Aff.*, 498 U.S. 89, 95–96 (1990),

and *Lozano v. Montoya Alvarez*, 572 U.S. 1, 10–11 (2014)) (explaining that "[e]quitable tolling is a traditional feature of American jurisprudence and a background principle against which Congress drafts limitations periods."). Thus "[t]he procedural requirements that . . . govern the litigation process are only occasionally as strict as they seem." *Harrow v. Dep't of Defense*, 601 U.S. 480, 483 (2024).

The presumption in favor of equitable tolling can be overcome where "the pertinent rule or rules invoked show a clear intent to preclude tolling"

Nutraceutical, 586 U.S. at 192–93 (citation omitted). Courts "look at the Rule's text and its surrounding context to discern the drafter's intent." Dixon, 304 A.3d at 969 (citing Nutraceutical Corp. v. Lambert, 586 U.S. 188, 139 (2019)). If the court finds "clear intent" to preclude tolling, the claims-processing rule is classified as "mandatory," meaning that it "may require a court's strict enforcement" if timely invoked, although "dismissals for noncompliance with such rules may be forfeited if the party seeking dismissal does not timely raise the issue." Brewer, 163 A.3d at 802 (citing Manrique v. United States, 581 U.S. 116 (2017)).

Absent such a clear intent to preclude tolling, the presumption in favor of equitable tolling remains: the deadline can be equitably tolled even over the timely objection of the opposing party.

### 3. Pertinent principles of statutory interpretation.

The interpretation of rules and statutes is "a holistic endeavor." Washington v. District of Columbia, 137 A.3d 170, 173 (D.C. 2016) (quoting United Sav. Ass'n of Tex. v. Timbers of Inwood Forest Assoc., 484 U.S. 365, 371 (1988)).

The starting place is the text because, "[a]s a general rule, 'the intent of the lawmaker is to be found in the language that he [or she] has used . . ." *Id.* (quoting *Eaglin v. District of Columbia*, 123 A.3d 953, 955 (D.C.2015)); *see also Nutraceutical*, 586 U.S. at 192 ("Whether a rule precludes equitable tolling turns . . . on whether the text of the rule leaves room for such flexibility." (internal citation omitted)).

In construing the text, a "basic principle[s] of statutory and regulatory construction" is that a rule or statute "must be read as a whole." *Bolz v. District of Columbia*, 149 A.3d 1130, 1137 (D.C. 2016) (citing *Wash. Mobilization Comm. v. Cullinane*, 566 F.2d 107, 118 (D.C. Cir. 1977), and *Washington*, 137 A.3d at 174). Thus the Court's textual analysis "must not be guided by a single sentence or member of a sentence," but should instead "look to the provisions of the whole law . . . ." *Washington*, 137 A.3d at 174 (quoting *United States Nat'l Bank v. Ind. Ins. Agents of Am.*, 508 U.S. 439, 455 (1993)). The Court's "task is to fit, if possible, all parts into a harmonious whole." *Roberts v. Sea-Land Servs., Inc.*, 566 U.S. 93, 100

(2012) (quoting Fed. Trade Comm'n v. Mandel Bros., Inc., 359 U.S. 385, 389 (1959)).

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