No. 24-CV-404

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAIRSceived 03/05/2025 11:50 AM Filed 03/05/2025 11:50 AM

JULIA WASHINGTON, APPELLANT,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF FORENSIC SCIENCES, et al., APPELLEES.

> ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF FORENSIC SCIENCES

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL J. SCHIFFERLE **Deputy Solicitor General**

*HOLLY M. JOHNSON Senior Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

Agency Rule 1 also governs appeals of decisions by the D.C. Public Employee Relations Board ("PERB"), an agency created by the CMPA to oversee collective bargaining between the District and its employees. D.C. Code § 1-605.02. PERB certifies unions and decides which matters are within the scope of collective bargaining—questions that must be resolved before meaningful negotiations can take place. *Id.* § 1-605.02(1), (5). PERB also adjudicates unfair labor practices and orders remedial actions, which are essential for good-faith collective bargaining and productive labor relations. *Id.* § 1-605.02(3). And PERB reviews the legal sufficiency of arbitration awards involving employee discipline and RIFs which, as discussed, can seriously disrupt agency operations if reversed. *Id.* § 1-605.02(6). As with OEA adjudications, the public has a strong interest in finality of PERB decisions after time to appeal has expired.

The same is true for other agency adjudications appealable under Agency Rule 1 and D.C. App. R. 15, which this Court has indicated will be interpreted in the same manner. *See Brewer v. D.C. Off. of Emp. Appeals*, 163 A.3d 799, 802 (D.C. 2017) (finding "no legitimate basis to differentiate the two [deadlines]"). The prevailing parties have a strong interest in finality of these decisions, which resolve disputes over a broad range of matters such as zoning and construction permitting,

alcoholic beverage licensing, professional licensing, rental housing standards, and tax liability. Even if these parties could later demonstrate prejudice from an untimely appeal, the mere possibility of a favorable ruling on excusable neglect would preclude them (and other stakeholders) from proceeding with confidence that their plans would not be upended after the time to appeal has expired. After all, the Superior Court has granted excusable-neglect extensions to several of Washington's colleagues, despite the lack of any proffered explanation for their attorney's failure to timely file. *See* Br. 7 (citing cases). And even though such extensions were erroneous, *see infra* pp. 43-50, the District must wait for a final judgment before it can appeal those rulings.

II. Washington Has Not Preserved A Claim For The Extraordinary Remedy Of Equitable Tolling, Nor Is Such Relief Available Under Agency Rule 1(b)(2).

This Court has not yet considered whether Agency Rule 1(b)(2) or its appellate twin, D.C. App. R. 15(a)(2), can be equitably tolled over the timely objection of an opposing party. Throughout her brief, Washington erroneously conflates equitable tolling with excusable neglect. *See* Br. 15-21, 28-37. But these doctrines are miles apart. To establish excusable neglect, a party need only show "good faith . . . and some reasonable basis for non-compliance." *Admasu*, 108 A.3d at 361-62 (quoting *Dada v. Children's Nat'l Med. Ctr.*, 715 A.2d 904, 908 (D.C. 1998)). By contrast, to justify equitable tolling, a party must show that

"extraordinary" circumstances prevented her from meeting the deadline. *Ware v. D.C. Dep't of Emp. Servs.*, 157 A.3d 1275, 1280 n.4 (D.C. 2017) (quoting *Lawrence v. Florida*, 549 U.S. 327, 336-37 (2007)).

Whether Agency Rule 1(b)(2) is subject to equitable tolling is thus a separate question from whether it is subject to extensions for good cause or excusable neglect. And it is a question that the Court need not reach because Washington has forfeited it by failing to argue that she is entitled to this extraordinary relief. Even if this Court were to excuse the forfeiture, she has not even proffered a reason for her attorney's failure to meet the deadline, much less demonstrated that some exceptional circumstance prevented her from timely filing. Lastly, if the Court nevertheless needs to reach the question, equitable tolling is not available under Agency Rule 1(b)(2) if an opposing party properly objects.

A. Washington has forfeited any claim of entitlement to "equitable tolling" and, in any event, has offered insufficient evidence to justify this extraordinary relief.

This Court need not decide whether Agency Rule 1(b)(2) is subject to equitable tolling because Washington has never sought this relief. She argues only that she has demonstrated "excusable neglect." JA 24-26; Br. 29-42. This is not enough to preserve a claim for equitable tolling.

Equitable tolling and extensions based on excusable neglect are different remedies subject to very different standards. Although "excusable neglect does not

apply to 'run-of-the-mill situations,'" Admasu, 108 A.3d at 361 (quoting Snow v. Capitol Terrace, Inc., 602 A.2d 121, 125 (D.C. 1992)), these extensions are liberally granted and require only a showing of "good faith . . . and some reasonable basis for non-compliance," id. at 362 (quoting Dada, 715 A.2d at 908). Equitable tolling, by contrast, is only presumptively available for statutes of limitations, see infra pp. 34-40, and only under "extraordinary" circumstances. Ware, 157 A.3d at 1280 n.4. But Agency Rule 1(b)(2) is not a statute of limitations. And even if it were, "[e]quitable tolling" would apply only "if despite all due diligence [the plaintiff] [wa]s unable to obtain vital information bearing on the existence of his claim." East v. Graphic Arts Indus. Joint Pension Tr., 718 A.2d 153, 160 n.21 (D.C. 1998) (quoting Cada v. Baxter Healthcare Corp., 920 F.2d 446, 450-51 (7th Cir. 1990)); see, e.g., Johnson v. D.C. Dep't of Emp. Servs., 181 A.3d 155, 162 & n.17 (D.C. 2018) (noting that appellant "possibly may" invoke equitable tolling "[i]f [District officials] misled [her] into believing [the agency] was continuing to process her claim and that she should disregard [its] denial notice").

Even in cases where equitable tolling might be available, extensions based on mere excusable neglect are not. The Supreme Court's recent cases invoking an equitable-tolling presumption all rely on authority tracing back to *Irwin v. Department of Veterans Affairs*, 498 U.S. 89 (1990). *See Harrow v. Dep't of Def.*, 601 U.S. 480, 489 (2024) (citing *Boechler, P.C. v. Comm'r*, 596 U.S. 199 (2022));

Boechler, 596 U.S. at 209 (citing Lozano v. Alvarez, 572 U.S. 1, 10-11 (2014), and Irwin, 498 U.S. at 95-96); Lozano 572 U.S. at 10 (citing Irwin, 498 U.S. at 95). Irwin, in turn, explains that implicit equitable relief can be "extended . . . only sparingly," 498 U.S. at 96, such as when a plaintiff timely filed his complaint in the wrong court, see id. at 96 n.3, or where the delay was caused by "his adversary's misconduct," see id. at 96 & n.4. And Irwin explicitly rejects an argument that a deadline presumptively subject to equitable tolling can be extended on less compelling grounds, holding that the presumption "do[es] not extend to what is at best a garden variety claim of excusable neglect." Id. at 96. This is why, when drafters want a deadline to be subject to excusable-neglect extensions, they make that authorization explicit. See, e.g., Super. Ct. Civ. R. 6(b) (authorizing excusableneglect extensions for all civil procedure deadlines except those explicitly exempted); Super. Ct. Crim. R. 45(b) (same for criminal procedure deadlines).

To be sure, both the Supreme Court and this Court occasionally use "equitable tolling" to loosely describe *any* extension of a deadline, including for "good cause." *See, e.g., Nutraceutical Corp. v. Lambert*, 586 U.S. 188, 194 (2019) (denying a "good cause" extension because the rule "is not amenable to equitable tolling"); *Dixon*, 304 A.3d at 969-70 (similar). But those cases were considering whether the *explicit* good-cause and excusable-neglect provisions applied to the deadlines in question. *See, e.g., Nutraceutical*, 586 U.S. at 193 (holding that Fed. R. App. P. 2's

"good cause" provision does not apply to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)); *Dixon*, 304 A.3d at 969-70 (holding that Super. Ct. Crim. R. 45(b)(1)'s "good cause" provision does not apply to Super. Ct. Crim. R. 35(b)(1)). They do not suggest that a rule or statute is *implicitly* subject to extensions for mere good cause or excusable neglect wherever equitable tolling might apply, or that the two remedies are equivalent. *See Hallstrom* v. *Tillamook County*, 493 U.S. 20, 27-28 (1989) ("The equities do not weigh in favor of modifying statutory requirements when the procedural default is caused by the petitioners' 'failure to take the minimal steps necessary' to preserve their claims.").

Washington claims only that her attorney's failure to timely file was due to "excusable neglect." JA 25; Br. 29-42. She has thus forfeited any claim for the type of equitable tolling that she argues is presumptively available. *See McFarland v. George Wash. Univ.*, 935 A.2d 337, 351 (D.C. 2007) (holding that claims not made in an opening brief are forfeited); *Wallace v. Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP*, 799 A.2d 381, 388 (D.C. 2002) (same for claims not raised in the trial court).

Moreover, even if the Court were to consider the matter, it should reject Washington's claim for equitable tolling as a matter of law because she cannot show extraordinary circumstances. In *Irwin*, rather than remand the question to the trial court, the Supreme Court held that the plaintiff's justification for missing the deadline—that his attorney was out of the country when the agency issued the decision that started the 30-day clock—could not justify equitable tolling as a matter

of law. 498 U.S. at 96. The Court explained that such relief was not available where "the claimant failed to exercise due diligence in preserving his legal rights" and had, at best, presented "a garden variety claim of excusable neglect." *Id*.

Washington's justification for missing the Agency Rule 1 deadline is even weaker. She does not dispute that both Suszczyk and her attorney knew about the OEA's decision when it was issued. See JA 27 (declaration attesting that Suszczyk authorized the employees' attorney to appeal to the Superior Court). The OEA provided notice regarding where to appeal, when to appeal, and which procedural rules would govern, so she cannot claim that she did not know how to obtain judicial review. See JA 21 (notice appended to the OEA decision). And Washington offers no reason for her attorney's failure to timely file her petition. Even if the unexplained failure of Washington's attorney to timely file could reasonably establish "excusable neglect" (and it cannot), it does not reasonably establish the extraordinary circumstances required to justify equitable tolling.

- B. If it reaches the question, this Court should hold that Agency Rule 1(b)(2) is not subject to equitable tolling over the timely objection of opposing parties.
 - 1. This Court has not yet decided the issue, although it has traditionally treated such deadlines as mandatory and not subject to equitable extension.

Agency Rule 1(b)(2) has historically been construed as "mandatory and jurisdictional," precluding equitable tolling even when waived or forfeited by

opposing parties. Fisher v. District of Columbia, 803 A.2d 962, 965 (D.C. 2002). So have other comparable deadlines, such as the identically worded D.C. App. R. 15(a)(2) governing administrative appeals to this Court, see Capitol Hill Restoration Soc'y v. D.C. Mayor's Agent for Historic Pres., 44 A.3d 271, 277 (D.C. 2012), and D.C. App. R. 4, which governs direct appeals of Superior Court judgments, see Frain v. District of Columbia, 572 A.2d 447, 449 (D.C. 1990) (civil); McKnight v. United States, 764 A.2d 240, 241 (D.C. 2000) (criminal).

This Court now recognizes that these deadlines are not jurisdictional and can thus be forfeited or waived. See Deloatch, 229 A.3d at 489-90 (D.C. App. R. 4); Brewer, 163 A.3d at 802 (predecessor to Agency Rule 1(b)(2)); Mathis v. D.C. Hous. Auth., 124 A.3d 1089, 1103 (D.C. 2015) (D.C. App. Rule 15(a)(2)). But it has not considered whether these deadlines can be extended if timely invoked by an opposing party. In other words, the Court has not determined whether they are mandatory claim-processing rules. In *Deloatch* and *Mathis*, the opponent never asserted a right to relief based on the missed deadline. See Deloatch, 229 A.3d at 493 & n.12 (noting that the appellees did not move to dismiss); Mathis, 124 A.3d at 1101 n.21 (stating that the DCHA "never addressed, much less contested, the propriety of equitable tolling in this case"). And in Brewer, "the government took no action whatsoever for three months" and then, in its first filing, suggested that the court "render a decision on the merits." Brewer, 163 A.3d at 803. Although the Court stopped one

step short of holding that this "constituted a forfeiture," it was "this extended inaction" that "le[ft] open the possibility of equitable tolling as allowed in *Mathis*." *Id.* at 803-04. The Court did not consider whether equitable tolling would have been available had the deadline been timely invoked. *See id*.

This makes all the difference. If the deadline is waived or forfeited, the court is free to fashion whatever equitable remedy it deems appropriate, be it excusable neglect, equitable tolling, or some other balancing test. *See, e.g., Deloatch*, 229 A.3d at 492 (weighing the public's interest in finality of judgments and judicial economy against appellees' forfeiture); *Brewer*, 163 A.3d at 804 (applying a traditional equitable-tolling test to excuse petitioner's timely filing in the wrong court); *Mathis*, 124 A.3d at 1104 ("balancing the fairness to both parties"). But if the deadline is timely invoked, the court must then decide whether the rule was meant to authorize equitable extensions and, if so, what standard the rule was meant to require. *See Deloatch*, 229 A.3d at 493 & n.12 (noting that "mandatory claim-processing rules like Rule 4 'must be enforced' when properly invoked by the appellee" (quoting *Hamer v. Neighborhood Hous. Servs.*, 583 U.S. 17, 20 & n.3 (2017)).

Washington is therefore wrong to suggest that *Brewer* and *Mathis* provide "highly persuasive" support for an interpretation of Agency Rule 1(b)(2) that permits equitable tolling. Br. 21. These cases establish only that Agency Rule 1(b)(2) and D.C. App. R. 15(a)(2)'s deadlines can be forfeited and that there is "no legitimate

basis to differentiate the two rules." *Brewer*, 163 A.3d at 802; *see* Super. Ct. Agency Rev. R. 1, *Comment to 2019 Amendment* (noting that "[t]he substance of this rule has . . . been modified consistent with D.C. App. R. 15-20"). And Washington's reliance on a third case, *Baldwin v. D.C. Office of Employee Appeals*, 226 A.3d 1140 (D.C. 2020), is even farther from the mark. *Baldwin* holds only that that the statutory deadline to appeal an OEA administrative judge's initial decision to the OEA Board is not jurisdictional. *See id.* at 1144.

Moreover, although the Court has not yet considered whether Agency Rule 1(b)(2) or D.C. App. R. 15(a)(2) precludes equitable tolling if timely invoked, it has held that a comparable deadline—to appeal a magistrate judge's decision to the Family Court—must be "strictly enforced if the issue of timeliness is properly raised." In re Na.H., 65 A.3d 111, 116 (D.C. 2013). The deadline uses "restrictive language," so the availability of equitable tolling rested on whether a tolling exception was implicit. *Id.* at 116 n.8; see Super. Ct. Fam. R. D(e)(1)(B). The Court held that it was not because, "[e]ven in the era of claim-processing rules, the time for noting an appeal has been treated as inflexible unless the opposing party has forfeited his objection." Id. at 116 n.8 (emphasis added). "For example, the Supreme Court took pains in *Eberhart* to explain why it continued to endorse the outcome of older cases like *United States v. Robinson*, [361 U.S. 220, 229 (1960)], which dismissed appeals not filed within the deadlines specified in courtpromulgated rules." *Id.* (citing *Eberhart v. United States*, 546 U.S. 12, 17 (2005)). *Eberhart* "said that *Robinson* 'is correct not because the District Court lacked *subject-matter jurisdiction*, but because district courts must observe the clear limits of the [applicable rules of procedure] when they are properly invoked." *Id.* (quoting *Eberhart*, 546 U.S. at 17). Precedent thus supports a strict interpretation here.

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